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Dear Ms. Walli:

EB-2017-0338 Hydro One Networks Inc. (Transmission) — Application for an
Accounting Order Establishing a Deferral Account

On November 2, 2017, Hydro One Networks Inc. (“Hydro One”) filed an application (“the
Application”) for an accounting order establishing a deferral account to capture the financial
impacts associated with a change to USGAAP accounting standards related to the
accounting of pension and other post-employment benefits (“OPEB”) for Hydro One’s
transmission business, to be effective January 1, 2018.

On March 16, 2018, the OEB issued Procedural Order No. 1 outlining steps for written
interrogatories and directing Hydro One to file written responses by April 2, 2018. With this
letter Hydro One is now filing its written responses. The responses have also been filed
through the Ontario Energy Board’s (“OEB”) Regulatory Electronic Submission System
(RESS).

Subsequent to the filing of the Application, Hydro One has confirmed with its Auditors the
requirements surrounding the Financial Accounting Standard Board’s ASU 2017-07
standard, including the eligibility of utilities to continue capitalizing OPEB costs, without
the requirement of a deferral account, if approved to do so by its regulator. The Federal
Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC”) has provided such an approval for regulated
entities under its jurisdiction. Hydro One is recommending continued capitalization of the
effected costs, similar to the FERC guidance. Such a decision would achieve the same
objective as the requested deferral account without the additional regulatory overhead
associated with the ongoing tracking and disposition of balances in the account.
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If the OEB allows for the continued capitalization of the effected costs, then the above noted
variance account would no longer be required. Failing such a decision, Hydro One would
request that the variance account be approved as requested.

If further clarification or additional information is needed please feel free to contact us at
Regulatory@HydroOne.com.

Sincerely,
ORIGINAL SIGNED BY FRANK D’ANDREA

Frank D’ Andrea
Encls.
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OEB Staff - Interrogatory # 1

Reference.

Interrogatory:

Using the table below, please provide the total pension costs and the total other post-employment
benefit (OPEB) costs that were approved by the OEB in EB-2016-0160 and included in the 2018
transmission revenue requirement. Please ensure that the amount presented for each cost type is
broken down between capital and OM&A.

Pension Costs OPEB Costs
Capital
OM&A
Total

Response.

Pension Costs OPEB Costs
Capital 32 30
OM&A 18 21
Total 50 51

All figures presented are in $ millions. It should be noted that the amount shown as capital is not
part of rate base until the related assets are put in-service.
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OEB Staff - Interrogatory # 2

Reference:
Request for Accounting Order, p. 3.

Interrogatory:

At the above reference, the applicant indicates that the Financial Accounting Standards Board
issued ASU 2017-07 in March 2017. Given that a Decision and Order for EB-2016-0160 was not
issued by the OEB until September 28, 2017, Hydro One Networks (Transmission) had ample
opportunity to notify the OEB of this accounting standard change during that proceeding, which
would have allowed the presiding OEB panel to determine how they wanted to handle the
resulting impact to the 2018 transmission revenue requirement.

Why did Hydro One Networks (Transmission) not bring this information forward during the EB-
2016-0160 proceeding?

Response.
Although, the decision was issued on September 28, 2017, Hydro One had already filed its reply

argument in the EB-2016-0160 proceeding on February 16, 2017, prior to the issuance of ASU
2017-07. The filing of Hydro One’s reply argument marked the close of the record for the EB-
2016-0160 proceeding. Though Hydro One did not have specific guidance regarding the timing
of the decision, it believed that a decision from the OEB was imminent at the time the accounting
guidance was issued and Hydro One did not want to introduce new elements to the proceeding at
that late stage. Hydro One also notes that the OEB has indicated in prior proceedings that it is
not appropriate for utilities to propose amendments or introduce new evidence at the time of
reply argument.!

It should be noted that prior to the issuance of ASU 2017-07, the Federal Energy Regulatory
Commission (FERC) as well as the Edison Electric Institute jointly with the American Gas
Association provided comments to the FASB during the comment period of the draft guidance
that supported the exemption of rate regulated entities from this guidance and the parties argued
that all components of net benefit costs are considered to be operating in nature and should not
be excluded for capitalization. Subsequent to the issuance of ASU 2017-07 and the fact that it
did not include an exemption, rate regulated entities including Hydro One assessed the impact of
the guidance as well as the most appropriate way to address this impact in rate applications. As

! EB-2015-0003, PowerStream Inc., Decision and Order, August 4, 2016, pg. 8.
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noted in Hydro One’s application, the FERC has issued guidance that allows regulated entities
under its jurisdiction to either continue capitalizing all components of Defined Benefit costs or
adopt the provisions of ASU 2017-07.

Hydro One requested the deferral account as a mechanism to allow the continued capitalization
of the costs no longer permissible for capitalization in ASU 2017-07. Once the deferral account
is approved these costs will continue to be capitalized in the requested deferral account.

Subsequent to the filing of the Application, Hydro One’s discussion with its Auditors has
improved its understanding of the requirements surrounding ASU 2017-07, including the
eligibility of utilities to continue capitalizing OPEB costs. Hydro One was advised that it could
continue capitalizing OPEB costs, without the requirement of a deferral account, if approved to
do so by its respective regulator. FERC has provided such an approval for regulated entities
under its jurisdiction. Hydro One would welcome a policy decision from the OEB that allows
the continued capitalization of the effected costs, similar to the FERC guidance. Such a decision
would achieve the same objective as the requested deferral account without the additional
regulatory overhead, going forward.
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OEB Staff - Interrogatory # 3

Reference:
Request for Accounting Order, p. 5.

Interrogatory:
The change in accounting standard for pensions and OPEB costs affects multiple components of
OMG&A as well as other aspects of the 2018 transmission revenue requirement.

a) Please provide a comprehensive list of all components of the 2018 transmission revenue
requirement that are expected to be impacted by this change (i.e. return on rate base,
depreciation, OPEB expense in OM&A, PILs etc).

b) For each component listed in a) above, please quantify the estimated dollar impact on the
2018 transmission revenue requirement as a result of the change in accounting standard.

Response.
a) & b):

In the absence of the deferral account, the OPEB expense in OM&A will increase by the
estimated $11 million noted in Hydro One’s application. With respect to the other components
such as return on rate base, depreciation etc., the impact results from the decrease in capitalized
costs, which once the related assets are put in-service will result in a decrease to rate base as well
as depreciation. In order to determine the exact impact on these components will be very time
consuming and onerous as this will require a detailed assessment of how costs are accumulated
at a project level and then assess the time at which each project’s resulting asset goes in service.
Assuming that 50% of a given period’s capitalized cost is put in service, the impact on revenue
requirement would be less than $1 million, which is well below the materiality threshold of $3
million that applies to Hydro One’s transmission business. Also, it should be noted that any
impact on revenue requirement due to the decrease in in-service additions resulting from the
reduction to capitalized costs will be captured in Hydro One’s In-service Variance Account.
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OEB Staff - Interrogatory # 4

Reference:
Request for Accounting Order, Appendix A.

Interrogatory:

Appendix A (draft accounting order) includes a narrative that explains the purpose of the
proposed variance account along with the expected accounting entries.

a)

b)

The narrative provided in Appendix A does not clearly state that the proposed variance
account will only be capturing the impact that the accounting standard change has on the
2018 transmission revenue requirement. Please update the narrative accordingly to reflect
this.

The accounting entries proposed do not appear to address all aspects of the 2018 transmission
revenue requirement that will be captured in this variance account. Please update
accordingly. If no other journal entries are required in addition to what has already been
presented in Appendix A, please explain why.

Response.

a)

b)

The deferral account requested is not intended to capture the 2018 revenue requirement
impact only, but it is intended to capture the impact going forward until another mechanism
established by the OEB allows for the continued capitalization of the net periodic benefit cost
other than the service cost that would have been classified as capital prior to the issuance of ASU
2017-07.

Please see our response to Exhibit I, Tab 1, Schedule 3. Any revenue requirement impact
resulting from a decrease in in-service additions relative to what was approved by the OEB in
its decision for EB 2016-0160 will be captured in Hydro One’s in-service variance account.
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London Property Management Association - Interrogatory # 1

Reference:
Request for Accounting Order, page 4

Interrogatory:

Please provide the total OPEBs amount included in the OEB approved revenue requirement for
2018 broken down into the amount included in OM&A and the amount that was capitalized and
included in rate base in 2018.

Response:
Please refer to the response provided in Exhibit I, Tab 1, Schedule 1 for the breakdown of 2018

OPEB amounts between capital & OM&A. It should be noted that the amount shown as capital
is not part of rate base until the related assets are put in-service. Please see the response to
Exhibit 1, Tab 1, Schedule 3 and the response to Exhibit I, Tab 3, Schedule 3 for further
discussion on impacts to revenue requirement.



11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29

Filed: 2018-04-03
EB-2017-0338
Exhibit |

Tab 2

Schedule 2

Page 1 of 1

London Property Management Association - Interrogatory # 2

Reference:
Request for Accounting Order, page 4

Interrogatory:

The Summary of the Request appears to only cover the net periodic post-retirement benefit
cost other than service cost for its transmission business that would have been classified as
capital prior to the issuance of ASU 2017-07 in a deferral account, effective January 1, 2018
and that will now be recorded as an OM&A expense.

a)

b)

Does the proposal capture the revenue requirement impact of the increase in OM&A costs
from the movement of costs from capital to expense in 2018?

Does the proposal capture the revenue requirement impact of the decrease in capital
included in rate base from the movement of costs to OM&A in 2018? If not, please
explain fully why not.

Response.

a)

b)

The proposed deferral account will allow Hydro One to continue capitalizing the net periodic
post-retirement benefit cost other than service cost for its transmission business that would
have been classified as capital prior to the issuance of ASU 2017-07, and therefore prevent
the increase in OM&A. Under the proposal the costs previously included in capital would be
recorded in the deferral account.

Any impact to revenue requirement due to a decrease in rate base from reduced in-service
additions will be captured in the in-service variance account. Please see our response to
Exhibit 1, Tab 1, Schedule 3 and our response to Exhibit I, Tab 3, Schedule 3 for further
details.
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London Property Management Association - Interrogatory # 3

Reference:
Request for Accounting Order, page 5

Interrogatory:

What is the estimated impact on the capital related revenue requirement of the movement of $11
million from capital to OM&A in 2018? Please break out the estimate into the cost of debt, the
return on equity, taxes, depreciation and any other related impact.

Response:
Please see our response to Exhibit I, Tab 1, Schedule 3 and our response to Exhibit I, Tab 3,

Schedule 3.
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London Property Management Association - Interrogatory # 4

Reference:
Request for Accounting Order & EB-2016-0160 Decision and Order dated September 28, 2017

Interrogatory:

Please explain how the requested deferral account shown in Appendix A of the Request for
Accounting Order will impact on the tracking account established by the OEB for the
transmission related OPEB costs that is compliant with the provisions of the Pension and OPEBs
Report as noted on page 80 of the EB-2016-02160 Decision and Order.

Response:
The tracking account established by the OEB for the transmission related OPEB costs that is

compliant with the provisions of the Pension and OPEBs Report as noted on page 80 of the EB-
2016-02160 Decision and Order will be impacted as so far as the timing of recovery of any
capitalized costs differs under the use of the deferral account when compared to the
capitalization prior to the issuance of ASU 2017-07.

As noted in our comments on implementation matters filed June 22, 2017 to the OEB’s report on
Regulatory Treatment of Pension and OPEB Costs, Hydro One supports the option for utilities to
use the modified tracking approach that identifies amounts that are expensed vs. capitalized. As
far as the timing of recovery for the relevant costs captured in the deferral account differs from
the same costs captured in capital, there would be an impact on the amount that is tracked in the
tracking account established by the OEB.
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Building Owners and Managers Association - Interrogatory # 1

Reference:
Application, p3

Interrogatory:
Please provide a copy of the Accounting Standard Update (ASU-2017-07).

Response.
See Attachment 1 to this response.
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FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING SERIES

No. 2017-07
March 2017

Compensation—Retirement Benefits (Topic 715)

Improving the Presentation of Net Periodic Pension
Cost and Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost

An Amendment of the FASB Accounting Standards Codification®

Financial Accounting Standards Board
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The FASB Accounting Standards Codification® is the source of authoritative
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) recognized by the FASB to be
applied by nongovernmental entities. An Accounting Standards Update is not
authoritative; rather, it is a document that communicates how the Accounting
Standards Codification is being amended. It also provides other information to help
a user of GAAP understand how and why GAAP is changing and when the
changes will be effective.

For additional copies of this Accounting Standards Update and information on
applicable prices and discount rates contact:

Order Department

Financial Accounting Standards Board
401 Merritt 7

PO Box 5116

Norwalk, CT 06856-5116

Please ask for our Product Code No, ASU2017-07.

FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING SERIES (ISSN 0885-9051) is published monthly
with the exception of July, September, and October by the Financial Accounting
Foundation, 401 Merritt 7, PO Box 5116, Norwalk, CT 06856-5116. Periodicals
postage paid at Norwalk, CT and at additional mailing offices. The full subscription
rate is $255 per year. POSTMASTER: Send address changes to Financial
Accounting Standards Board, 401 Merritt 7, PO Box 5116, Norwalk, CT 06856-
5116. | No. 451

Copyright © 2017 by Financial Accounting Foundation. All rights reserved.
Content copyrighted by Financial Accounting Foundation may not be
reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any
means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise, without
the prior written permission of the Financial Accounting Foundation. Financial
Accounting Foundation claims no copyright in any portion hereof that
constitutes a work of the United States Government.
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Improving the Presentation of Net Periodic Pension
Cost and Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost

An Amendment of the FASB Accounting Standards Codification®

Financial Accounting Standards Board

Page 3 of 58



Page 4 of 58



Accounting Standards Update 2017-07
Compensation—Retirement Benefits (Topic 715)

Improving the Presentation of Net Periodic Pension Cost and
Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost

March 2017
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Summary

Why Is the FASB Issuing This Accounting Standards
Update (Update)?

The Board is issuing this Update primarily to improve the presentation of net
pericdic pension cost and net periodic postretirement benefit cost, as discussed
below. This Update also includes amendments to the Overview and Background
Sections of the FASB Accounting Standards Codification® (as discussed in Part I|
of the amendments section) as part of the Board's initiative to unify and improve
these sections across Topics and Subtopics.

Under generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), defined benefit pension
cost and postretirement benefit cost (net benefit cost) comprise several
compenents that reflect different aspects of an employer’s financial arrangements
as well as the cost of benefits provided to employees. Those components are
aggregated for reporting in the financial statements. Topic 715, Compensation—
Retirement Benefits, does not prescribe where the amount of net benefit cost
should be presented in an employer's income statement and does not require
entities to disclose by line item the amount of net benefit cost that is included in
the income statement or capitalized in assets.

Many stakeholders observed that the presentation of defined benefit cost on a net
basis combines elements that are heterogeneous. As such, these stakeholders
stated that the current presentation requirement is less transparent, reduces the
decision usefulness of the financial information, and requires users to incur greater
costs in analyzing financial statements.

To improve the reporting of net benefit cost in the financial statements, the Board
added a standard-setting project to provide additional guidance on the
presentation of net benefit cost in the income statement and on the components
eligible for capitalization in assets.

Who Is Affected by the Amendments in This Update?

The amendments in this Update apply to all employers, including not-for-profit
entities, that offer to their employees defined benefit pension plans, other
postretirement benefit plans, or other types of benefits accounted for under Topic
715.

Page 7 of 58



What Are the Main Provisions?

The amendments in this Update require that an employer report the service cost
component in the same line item or items as other compensation costs arising from
services rendered by the pertinent employees during the period. The other
components of net benefit cost as defined in paragraphs 715-30-35-4 and 715-60-
35-9 are required to be presented in the income statement separately from the
service cost compenent and outside a subtotal of income from operations, if one
is presented. If a separate line item or items are used to present the other
components of net benefit cost, that line item or items must be appropriately
described. If a separate line item or items are not used, the line item or items used
in the income statement to present the other components of net benefit cost must
be disclosed.

The amendments in this Update also allow only the service cost component to be
eligible for capitalization when applicable {for example, as a cost of internally
manufactured inventory or a self-constructed asset).

How Do the Main Provisions Differ from Current
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) and
Why Are They an Improvement?

The amendments in this Update require that an employer disaggregate the service
cost component from the other components of net benefit cost. The amendments
also provide explicit guidance on how to present the service cost component and
the other components of net benefit cost in the income statement and allow only
the service cost component of net benefit cost to be eligible for capitalization.

The amendments in this Update improve the consistency, transparency, and
usefulness of financial information to users that have communicated that the
service cost component generally is analyzed differently from the other
components of net benefit cost.

The amendments in this Update are considered an important part of the Board’s
continuing efforts to improve the accounting related to defined benefit pension or
other postretirement benefit plans.

What Are the Transition Requirements and When Will
the Amendments Be Effective?

The amendments in this Update are effective for public business entities for annual
periods beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within those
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annual periods, For other entities, the amendments in this Update are effective for
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019. Early adoption is permitted as
of the beginning of an annual period for which financial statements (interim or
annual) have not been issued or made available for issuance. That is, early
adoption should be within the first interim period if an employer issues interim
financial statements. Disclosures of the nature of and reason for the change in
accounting principle are required in the first interim and annual periods of adoption.

The amendments in this Update should be applied retrospectively for the
presentation of the service cost component and the other components of net
periodic pension cost and net periodic postretirement benefit cost in the income
statement and prospectively, on and after the effective date, for the capitalization
of the service cost component of net periodic pension cost and net periodic
postretirement benefit in assets. The amendments allow a practical expedient that
permits an employer to use the amounts disclosed in its pension and other
postretirement benefit plan note for the prior comparative periods as the estimation
basis for applying the retrospective presentation requirements. Disclosure that the
practical expedient was used is required.
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Amendments to the
FASB Accounting Standards Codification®

Introduction

1. The Accounting Standards Codification is amended as described in
paragraphs 2-19, which are related to the presentation of net periodic pension
cost and net periodic postretirement benefit cost, and in paragraphs 20-24, which
are related to the Overview and Background Sections of Topic 715. The
amendments in this Update are separated into two parts to provide a clear view of
each of the subjects on which the Board is focused. In some cases, to put the
change in context, not only are the amended paragraphs shown but also the
preceding and following paragraphs. Terms from the Master Glossary are in bold
type. Added text is underlined, and deleted text is struck-out.

Part I-Amendments Related to the Presentation of Net
Periodic Pension Cost and Net Periodic Postretirement
Benefit Cost

Amendments to Master Glossary

2. Amend the Master Glossary term Net Periodic Pension Cost, with a link to
transition paragraph 715-20-65-3, as follows:

Net Periodic Pension Cost

The amount recognized in an employer's financial statements as the cost of a
pension plan for a period. Components of net periodic pension cost are service
cost, interest cost, actual return on plan assets, gain or loss, amortization of prior
service cost or credit, and amortization of the transition asset or obligation existing
at the date of initial application of Subtopic 715-30. The term net periodic pension
cost is used instead of net pension expense because par-ef-the service cost

component recognized in a period may be capitalized aleng-with-othereosts-as
part of an asset such as inventory.

Amendments to Subtopic 715-20

3.  Add paragraph 715-20-45-3A, with a link to transition paragraph 715-20-65-
3, as follows:
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Compensation—Retirement Benefits—Defined Benefit
Plans—General

Other Presentation Matters
> Classification

715-20-45-3A An emplover shall report in the income statement:

a. The service cost component of net periodic pension cost and net
periodic postretirement benefit cost in the same line item or items as
other compensation costs arising from services rendered by the pertinent
employees during the period (except for the amount being capitalized, if
appropriate, in connection with the production or construction of an asset
such as inventory or property, plant, and equipment)

The other components as defined in paragraphs 715-30-35-4 and 715-
60-35-9 separately from the service cost component and outside a
subtotal of income from operations, if one is presented. If a separate line
item or items are used to present the other components, that line item or
items shall be described appropriately.

1=

For the purpose of applying the guidance in this paragraph, a gain or loss from a
settlement or curtailment or the cost of certain termination benefits accounted for
under this Topic shall be reported in the same way as the other components in (b).

4, Amend paragraphs 715-20-50-1(h), 715-20-50-5(q), and 715-20-50-6(a),
with a link to transition paragraph 715-20-65-3, as follows:

Disclosure
> Disclosures by Public Entities

715-20-50-1 An employer that sponsors one or more defined benefit pension plans
or one or more defined benefit other postretirement plans shall provide the
following information, separately for pension plans and other postretirement
benefit plans. Amounts related to the employer's results of operations shall be
disclosed for each period for which a statement of income is presented. Amounts
related to the employer’'s statement of financial position shall be disclosed as of
the date of each statement of financial position presented. All of the following shall
be disclosed:

h. The amount of net benefit cost recognized, showing separately all of the
following:
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The service cost component

The interest cost component

The expected return on plan assets for the period

The gain or loss component

The prior service cost or credit component

The transition asset or obligation component

The gain or loss recognized due to settlements or curtailments.

B o s

The line item(s) used in the income statement to present the components
other than the service cost component shall be disclosed if the other
components are not presented in a separate line item or items in the
income statement.

> Disclosures by Nonpublic Entities

715-20-50-5 A nonpublic entity is not required to disclose the information
required by paragraphs 715-20-50-1(a) through (c), 715-20-50-1(h), 715-20-50-
1(m), and 715-20-50-1(0) through (r). A nonpublic entity that sponsors one or more
defined benefit pension plans or one or more other defined benefit postretirement
plans shall provide all of the following information, separately for pension plans
and other postretirement benefit plans. Amounts related to the employer’s results
of operations shall be disclosed for each period for which a statement of income is
presented. Amounts related to the employer’s statement of financial position shall
be disclosed as of the date of each statement of financial position presented.

q. The amount of net periodic benefit cost recognized._In addition, if the
components other than the service cost component are not presented in a
separate line item or items in the income statement, the amount of the
other components and the line item(s) used in the income statement to
present them shall be disclosed.

> Interim Disclosure Requirements for Publicly Traded Entities

715-20-50-6 A publicly traded entity shall disclose the following information for
its interim financial statements that include a statement of income:

a. The amount of net benefit cost recognized, for each period for which a
statement of income is presented, showing separately each of the
following:

The service cost component

The interest cost component

The expected return on plan assets for the period

The gain or loss component

The prior service cost or credit component

The transition asset or obligation component

The gain or loss recognized due to a settlement or curtailment.

Shgray Bt S
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The line item(s) used in the income statement to present the components
other than the service cost component shall be disclosed if the other
components are not presented in a separate line item or items in the
income statement.

5. Amend paragraphs 715-20-55-13 and 715-20-55-17 through 55-18, with a
link to transition paragraph 715-20-65-3, as follows:

Implementation Guidance and lllustrations
> Implementation Guidance
> > Application of the Recognition Provisions

715-20-55-13 For the year ending December 31, 2007, Entity A makes the
following journal entries in applying the recognition provisions of Section 715-30-
25;

a. Recognize net periodic pension cost and a corresponding increase in
other comprehensive income, net of tax, for amortization of the transition
obligation (see the preceding paragraph).

Net periodic pension cost—transition obligation 40

Deferred tax benefit—other comprehensive income 16
Deferred tax benefit—net income 16
Other comprehensive income 40

b. Recognize net periodic pension cost and a corresponding increase in
other comprehensive income, net of tax, for amortization of prior service
cost (see the preceding paragraph).

Met periodic pension cost—prior sendce cost 25

Deferred tax benefit—other comprehensive income 10
Deferred tax benefit—netincome 10
Other comprehensive income 25

c. Recognize a pension liability and net periodic pension cost, net of tax, for
the service cost of $120, interest cost of $95, and the expected return on
plan assets of $(80) (see the preceding paragraph)._The service cost
should be recognized separately, and the interest cost and expected
return on plan assets may be recognized together or separately.
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Met periodic pension cost—service cost 435 120

Net periodic pension cost—interest cost 95

Deferred tax asset 54
Net pericdic pension cost—expected return on plan
assets ad
Deferred tax benefit—net income 54
Liability for pension benefits 135

d. Recognize a pension liability for the additional net loss arising during the
year and a corresponding decrease in other comprehensive income, net
of tax (this is the increase in net loss from $240 to $260 shown in
paragraph 715-20-55-6).

Other comprehensive income 20

Deferred tax asset 8
Deferred tax benefit—other comprehensive income )
Liability for pension benefits 20

> [llustrations

> > Example 1: Disclosures about Defined Benefit Pension and Other
Postretirement Benefit Pians in the Annuai Financial Statements of a
Publicly Traded Entity

715-20-55-17 During 20X3, Entity A acquired FV Industries and amended its plans.
Entity A would make the following disclosure.

Notes to Financial Statements
Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans

[Note: Only the portion of this paragraph that is relevant to the amendment
is shown here.]
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Compenents of Net Periodic Benefit Cost and Other Amounts Recognized in Other Comprehensive Income

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

Net Periodic Benefit Cost 20%3 20%2 20X3 20X2

Service cost § 78 $ 72 § 38 § az
Interest cost a0 as 55 55
Expected return on plan assets {85) (7E) (17} (8)
Amortization of pricr sendce cost 20 16 (5) (5)
Amartization of net (gain) loss - - # 5
Net periodic benefit cost 5 101 § 100 $ 69 § 74

Other Changes in Plan Assets and Benefit Obligations Recognized in Other Comprehensive Income

Netloss (gain) § 78 $ (112) s a7 § (16)
Prior service cost (credif) 7a z {75} =
Amaortization of prior sendce cost (20) (16) 5 5

Total recognized in other comprehensive income 126 (128) (33) 113

Total recognized in net pericdic benefit cost and
other comprehensive income 3 227 5 (28) E] 38 5 83

The components of net periodic benefit cost other than the service cost component
are included in the line item "other income/{expense)” in the income statement.

The estimated net loss and prior service cost for the defined benefit pension plans
that will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive income into net
periodic benefit cost over the next fiscal year are $4 and $27, respectively. The
estimated prior service credit for the other defined benefit postretirement plans that
will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive income into net periodic
benefit cost over the next fiscal year is $10.

[Note: Nonpublic entities are not required to separately disclose components of net
pericdic benefit cost.]

> > Example 2: Interim-Period Disclosures of a Publicly Traded Entity

715-20-55-18 This Example illustrates the disclosures of a publicly traded entity
for the first fiscal quarter beginning after December 15, 20X3.

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost

10
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Three months ended March 31

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

20X4 20X3 20X4 20X3
Sendce cost $ 35 $ 19 % 16 3 9
Interest cost 38 23 23 14
Expected return on plan assets {41) (21) (6) (4)
Amortization of prior senice cost 7 5 (3) (1)
Amortization of net (gain} loss 2 - -
Net periodic benefit cost 3 4 $ 26 k3 30 $ 18

The components of net periodic benefit cost other than the service cost component
are included in the line item “other income/{expense)” in the income statement.

Employer Contributions

Entity A previously disclosed in its financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 20X3, that it expected to contribute $125 million to its pension plan
in 20X4. As of March 31, 20X4, $20 million of contributions have been made. Entity
A presently anticipates contributing an additional $120 million to fund its pension
plan in 20X4 for a total of $140 million.

6.  Add paragraph 715-20-65-3 and its related heading as follows:

> Transition Related to Accounting Standards Update No. 2017-07,
Compensation—Retirement Benefits (Topic 715): Improving the

Presentation of Net Periodic Pension Cost and Net Periodic Postretirement
Benefit Cost

715-20-65-3 The following represents the transition and effective date information
related to Accounting Standards Update No. 2017-07, Compensation—Retirement
Benefits (Topic 715): Improving the Presentation of Net Periodic Pension Cost and
Net Periodic Postrefirement Benefit Cost:

a. The pending content that links to this paragraph shall be effective as

follows:

1. For public business entities, for annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2017, including interim periods within those annual
periods

2. For all other entities, for annual periods beginning after December
15, 2018, and interim periods within annual periods beginning after
December 15, 20189.

b. An entity shall apply the pending content that links to this paragraph as
follows:

11
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Retrospectively for the presentation in the income statement of the
service cost component and the other components of net periodic
pension cost and net periodic postretirement benefit cost
2. Prospectively, on and after the effective date, for the capitalization in
assets of the service cost component of net periodic pension cost
and net periodic postretirement benefit cost.
As a practical expedient, an entity may use the amounts disclosed in its
pension and other postretirement benefit plan note for the prior
comparative periods as the estimation basis for applying the retrospective
presentation requirements. If an entity elects to use the practical
expedient, the entity shall disclose that the practical expedient was used.
Early adoption of the pending content that links to this paragraph is
permitted as of the beginning of an annual period for which financial
statements (interim or annual) have not been issued or have not been
made available for issuance. That is, early adoption of the pending
content that links to this paragraph shall be within the first interim period
if an entity issues interim financial statements.
An_entity shall disclose the nature of and reason for the change in
accounting principle in the first interim and annual periods in which the
entity adopts the pending content that links to this paragraph.

Amendments to Subtopic 715-30

T

Add paragraph 715-30-35-7A, with a link to transition paragraph 715-20-65-
3, as follows:

Compensation—Retirement Benefits—Defined Benefit
Plans—Pension

Subsequent Measurement

> > Service Cost

715-30-35-7A The service cost component shall be the only component of net

periodic pension cost eligible to be capitalized as part of the cost of inventory or

other assets.

8.

Amend paragraph 715-30-60-2, with a link to transition paragraph 715-20-
65-3, as follows:

Relationships

> Inventory

12
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715-30-60-2 For guidance on the capitalization of the service cost component of

net periodic pension cost-er-net-periedic-pensior-income as part of the cost of
inventory-or-etherassets, see Subtopic 330-10.

Amendments to Subtopic 715-60

8.  Add paragraph 715-60-35-10A, with a link to transition paragraph 715-20-65-
3, as follows:

Compensation—Retirement Benefits—Defined Benefit
Plans—Other Postretirement

Subsequent Measurement
> > Service Cost

715-60-35-10A The service cost component shall be the only component of net
periodic postretirement benefit cost eligible to be capitalized as part of the cost of
inventory or other assets.

10. Amend paragraphs 715-60-55-86, 715-60-55-89, and 715-60-55-92, with a
link to transition paragraph 715-20-65-3, as follows:

Implementation Guidance and lllustrations
> lllustrations

> > Example 3: Accounting for Gains and Losses and Timing of
Measurements

> > > Case A: Loss on Obligation

715-60-55-86 In addition to disclosures regarding changes in plan assets and
benefit obligations required by paragraph 715-20-50-1(a) through 1(b), the 20X3
financial statements include the following disclosure of the components of net
periodic postretirement benefit cost (as required by paragraph 715-20-50-1(h}).

Service cost $ 300,000
Interest cost 570,000
Amortization of transition obligation 300,000

Net pericdic postretirementbenefitcost  $1,170,000

13
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The components of net periedic postretirement benefit cost other than the service
cost component are included in the line item “other income/{(expense)” in the
income statement.

> > > Case B: Gains on Assets

715-60-55-89 The 20X4 financial statements include the following disclosure of the
components of net periodic postretirement benefit cost.

Senice cost $ 320,000
Interest cost 630,000
Expected return on plan assets (87,000)
Amortization oftransition obligation 300,000
Amortization of net acturial loss 5,000

Net periodic postretirement benefit cost $ 1,168,000

The components of net periodic postretirement benefit cost other than the service
cost component are included in_the line item “other income/(expense)” in the
income statement.

> > > Case C: Loss on Assets and Gain on Obligation

715-60-55-92 The 20X5 financial statements include the following disclosure of the
components of net periodic postretirement benefit cost.

Senvice cost $ 360,000
Interest cost 652,500
Expected return on plan assets (193,700}
Amortization of transition obligation 300,000

Net periodic postretirement benefit cost $1,118,800

The components of net periodic postretirement benefit cost other than the service
cost component are included in the line item “other income/{expense)” in_the
income statement.

Amendments to Subtopic 220-10

11. Amend paragraph 220-10-45-17A, with a link to transition paragraph 715-20-
65-3, as follows:

14
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Comprehensive Income—Overall

Other Presentation Matters

> Reclassification Adjustments

220-10-45-17A If an entity chooses to present information about the effects of
significant amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income
on net income, on the face of the statement where net income is presented, the
entity shall present parenthetically by component of other comprehensive income
the effect of significant reclassification amounts on the respective line items of net
income. An entity also shall present parenthetically the aggregate tax effect of all
significant reclassifications on the line item for income tax benefit or expense in
the statement where net income is presented. However, if an entity chooses to use
a separate line item or items in the income statement to present significant pension
cost components or other postretirement benefit cost components reclassified out
of accumulated other comprehensive income, it shall no longer be required to
present those pension cost components or other postretirement benefit cost
components parenthetically. If an entity is unable to identify the line item of net
income affected by any significant amount reclassified out of accumulated other
comprehensive income in a reporting period (including when all reclassifications
for the period are not to net income in their entirety), the entity must follow the
guidance in the-follewing-paragraph_220-10-45-17B. Paragraph 220-10-55-17F
provides an example of presentation of the effect of reclassification on the face of
the statement where net income is presented.

12. Amend paragraphs 220-10-55-17B and 220-10-55-17E, with a link to
transition paragraph 715-20-65-3, as follows:

Implementation Guidance and lllustrations
> lllustrations

> > Example 2: Presenting Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

> > > Disclosure of Amounts Reclassified Out of Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income

15
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costs reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income but-retic-pet
income-in-its-entirety-in-the-samerepering-pered-should identify the amount of
each pension cost component reclassified out of accumulated other
comprehensive income and make reference to the relevant pension cost
disclosure that provides greater detail about these reclassifications.

220-10-55-17E The following illustrates a disclosure in a tabular format of
significant amounts reclassified out of each component of accumulated other
comprehensive income, as required by paragraph 220-10-45-17B. The amounts
used in this Example correspond to those in the Example in paragraph 220-10-565-
15.

Entity XYZ
Notes to Financial Statements
Reclassifications Out of A lated Other Compr Ll

For the Pericd Ended December 31, 201X

Amount Reclassified from

Details about Accumulated Other Accumulated Other Affected Line ltem in the Statement
Comprehensive Income Components Comprehensive Income Where Net Income Is Presented
Galns and losses on cash flow hedges

Interest rate contracts 5 1,000 Interestincom efexpense)

Credit derivatives (500 Other incom ef{expense)

Foreign exchange contracts 2,500 Sales/revenue

Commodity contracts (2,000} Costofsales

1,000 Total before tax
(250) Tax (expense) or benefit
3 750 Metof tax

Unrealized gains and losses on avallatle-for-sale

debtsecurities
5 2,300 Realized gain/{loss) on sale of
securiies
{285} Impairment expense
Insignificantitems {15}
2.000 Total before tax
{500} Tax (expense} or benefil
] 1.500 Net of tax
Amortization of defined benefit pension items
Prior-serdce casts $ (2000) ®} otherincometiexpense)
Transitian abligatian (2,500) ® otherincome/iexpense)
Actuarial gainsflosses) (1500) ™ oherincomer(expense)
{6.000) Total before tax
1,500 Tax{expense) or benefit
5 (4,500) Net of tax
Tetal reclassifications for the period 5 (2,250) Met of tax

(a) Amounts in parentheses indicate debits to profitioss.

() These accumulated other comprenensive income components are includedip-thecomputationcom panents of nat
periodic pension cost {see pension note for additional details).

16
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Amendments to Subtopic 330-10

13. Amend the heading preceding paragraph 330-10-55-5, supersede
paragraphs 330-10-55-5 through 55-7 and their related headings, and add
paragraph 330-10-55-6A, with a link to transition paragraph 715-20-65-3, as
follows:

Inventory—Overall
Implementation Guidance and lllustrations
> Implementation Guidance

> > Capitalizing into Inventory the Service Cost Component of Pension
and Other Postretirement Benefit CostsCestinte-lnventory

> > nterest Cost Compenent

330-10-55-5 Paraqraph superseded by Accountlnq Standards Update No 2017-
07.A :

330-10-55-6A The service cost component of net periodic pension cost and net
periodic postretirement benefit cost is the only component directly arising from
employees’ services provided in the current period. Therefore, when it is
appropriate to capitalize employee compensation in _connection with the
construction or production of an asset, the service cost component applicable to
the pertinent employees for the period is the relevant amount to be considered for

capitalization.

17

Page 23 of 58



Net_Periodic Pension |

Amendments to Subtopic 958-225

14, Amend paragraph 958-225-45-11, with a link to transition paragraph 715-20-
65-3, as follows:

Not-for-Profit Entities—Income Statement

Other Presentation Matters

> Measure of Operations

958-225-45-11 Some limitations on an NFP's use of an intermediate measure of
operations are imposed by other Subtopics. If a subtotal such as income from
operations is presented, it shall include the following amounts:

a. Animpairment loss recognized for a long-lived asset (asset group) to be
held and used, pursuant to paragraph 360-10-45-4

b. Costs associated with an exit or disposal activity that does not involve a
discontinued operation, pursuant to paragraph 420-10-45-3

¢. A gain or loss recognized on the sale of a long-lived asset (disposal
group) that is not a component of an entity that qualifies for discontinued
operations treatment, as defined in Subtopic 205-20, and pursuant to
paragraph 360-10-45-5.

In_addition, the subtotal such as income from operations shall exclude the
components of net periodic pension cost and net periodic postretirement benefit
cost other than the service cost component, pursuant to paragraph 958-715-45-3.

Amendments to Subtopic 958-715

15.  Amend paragraphs 958-715-45-1 through 45-2 and add paragraph 958-715-
45-3, with a link to transition paragraph 715-20-65-3, as follows:

Not-for-Profit Entities—Compensation—Retirement Benefits

18
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Other Presentation Matters

958-715-45-1 A not-for-profit entity (NFP) shall recognize as a separate line item
or items, outside an intermediate measure of operations, if one is presented, or a
performance indicator as required by paragraph 954-225-45-4 for NFP business-
oriented health care entities, within changes in net assets without donor

restrictions, apart from expenses, the gains-or-losses-andnet gain or loss, the
prior service costs or credits, and the transition asset or obligation that would be

recognized in other comprehensive income pursuant to the following Sections:

a. Section 715-30-35
b. Section 715-60-35.

958-715-45-2 An NFP shall reclassify a portion of the net gain or less-andloss, the

prior service costs or credits, and the transition asset or obligation previously
recogmzed in accordance W|th paragra Dh 958 715 45 1m—a—sepa\=ate—l+ne-+tem—el=

a-ppheat&eﬂﬂf—'liepicﬂé as fcl!cws

a. To net periodic pension cost, pursuant to the recognition and amortization
provisions of paragraphs 715-30-35-3 through 35-28

b. To net periedperiodic postretirement benefit cost, pursuant to the
recognition and amortization provisions of paragraphs 715-60-35-7
through 35-40.

The contra adjustment or adjustments_to the initially recognized net gain or loss,
the prior service costs or credits, and the transition asset or obligation shall be
reported in the same line item or items, outside an intermediate measure of
operations, if one is presented, or a performance indicator as required by
paragraph 854-225-45-4 for NFP_business-oriented health care entities, within

changes in net assets without donor restrictions, apart from expenses, as the
|n|t|ally recognlzed amcunts as identified In Daragraph 958 ?15 45-1 -Ne%-peﬂcdic

958-715-45-3 An NFP shall report in the statement of activities:

a. The service cost component of net periodic pension cost and net periodic
postretirement _benefit cost in the same line item(s) as other
compensation costs arising from services rendered by the pertinent
employees during the periocd {except for the amount being capitalized, if
appropriate, in connection with production or construction of an asset)
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The other components as defined in paragraphs 715-30-35-4 and 715-
60-35-9 separately from the service cost component and outside an
intermediate measure of operations, if one is presented, within changes
in_net assets without donor restrictions. If a separate line item or items
are used to present the other components, that line item or items shall be
appropriately described and different from the separate line item or items
used to present the net gain or loss, the prior service costs or credits, and
the transition asset or obligation that would be recognized in other
comprehensive income in accordance with Sections 715-30-35 and 715-
60-35.

The service cost component and the cther components of net periodic pension
cost and net periodic postretirement benefit cost shall be reported by functional
expense classification in accordance with paragraphs 958-720-45-2 and 958-
720-45-15.

16. Amend paragraphs 958-715-55-4 and 958-715-55-6 through 55-7 and
supersede paragraph 958-715-55-8, with a link to transition paragraph 715-20-65-
3, as follows:

Implementation Guidance and lllustrations

> fllustrations

> > Example 1: Reporting Net Periodic Pension Cost and Changes in a
Plan’s Funded Status

958-715-55-4 Not-for-Profit Entity A's (NFP A's) actuary prepares a 12-month
projection of net periodic pension cost for July 1, 20X7, to June 30, 20X8. The
funded status of NFP A's defined benefit pension plan as of June 30, 20X7, and
June 30, 20X8, and amounts to be recognized as components of net periodic
pension cost are shown in thefellewing-paragraph 958-715-55-6. The cumulative
net loss not yet recognized as a component of net periodic pension cost is less
than 10 percent of the greater of the projected benefit obligation and the market-
related value of plan assets. No plan amendments affect the period from July 1,
20X7, to June 30, 20X8. Assumptions about benefit payments and contributions
made by NFP A have not been included in this Example. During the fiscal year
ending June 30, 20X8, NFP A does the following:

a. Recognizes the additional net loss as a change in net assets without
donor restrictions and a change in the liability that reflects the
underfunded status of the plan

b. Recognizes the amortization of the transition obligation as a component
of net periodic pension cost

c. Recognizes the amortization of prior service cost as a component of net
periodic pension cost

20
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Recognizes net periodic pension cost within the appropriate functional
expense categories for 20X8, with the service cost component reported

ithi i i as part of the
intermediate measure of operations (for example, increase in net assets
from operating activities) and the other components reported in a
separate line item. outside the intermediate measure of operations
presented by NFP A, within changes in net assets without donor
restrictions.

958-715-55-6 For the year ending June 30, 20X8, NFP A recognizes the
amortizations of the transition obligation and prior service cost as components of
net periodic pension cost and recognizes the additicnal loss arising during the
year. The journal entries are as follows:

a.

Recognize the additional loss in net assets without donor restrictions.

Netloss not yet recognized in nel periodic pension cost 50
Liability for pension benefits 50

Recognize the amortization of the transition obligation in net periodic
pension cost.

Net periedic pension cost—transiticn
obligation (functionalized) 40

Transition obligation not yet recognized in net
periodic pension cost 40

Recognize the amortization of prior service cost in net periodic pension
cost.

Net periodic pension cost—prior senice cost
{functionalized) 100

Prior senvice cost not yet recognized in net periodic
pension cost 100

Recognize service cost separately and—interesteest recognize the

interest cost and the expected return on plan assets together in net

periodic pension cost.

Net periodic pension cost—senvce cost (functionalized) 105110
Net periodic pension cost—interest cost and
expected return on plan assets {functionalized} El i
Liability for pension benefits 105
(a) Footnote superseded.Equale-$110-sandce-cost+$120-inierestcost—$125-axpested

(b} Equals $120 inlerest cost—$125 expected return on plan assets.
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In its statement of activities, NFP A cheoses-to-presentpresents the service cost
component by appropriate functional expense categories within the intermediate
measure of cperations (for example,  increase in net assets from operating
activities), within changes in net assets without donor restrictions, and presents
the other components (encompassing the interest cost, the expected return on
plan assets, and the amortizations of the transition obligation and prior service
cost) in a separate line item (different from the separate line item discussed below
for the items not yet recognized as components of net periodic pension cost)
outside the intermediate measure of operations, within changes in net assets
without donor restrictions. NFP A presents in aene-combined separate line item,
outside the intermediate measure of gperations, within changes in net assets
without donor restrictions, the items {(encompassing the net loss arising during the
year and the amerizations-efchanges in the transition obligation and prior service
cost) not vet recognized as components of net periodic pension costapar-frem
exf.aenses NFP A would dlsclosem&emwmﬂmmm

#-, in the notes
to fnancual statements the |nformat|on required by paragraph 958-715-50-1. NFP
A also would disclose, in the notes to financial statements, an analysis of all
expenses (including the service cost component and the other components of net
periodic pension cost) by their nature and function in accordance with paragraphs
958-720-45-2 and 958-720-45-15.

958-715-55-7 The following statement of activities reflects how NFP A presents
the service cost component and the other components of net periodic pension cost
and the items not yet recognized as components of net periodic pension cost in its
statement of activities, which presents anthe-presentation—of-the—combined-line
iterm-i-NFP-A-chooses-lo-presentitoulside-its intermediate measure of operations.
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Hot-tor-Profit Entity A
Statenant of Activities
Year Ended June 30, 2008
{in thousands]

Witheawt
Donor With Donor
Restrictions Restrictions. Total
Oparating:
Revenues, gaing, and other supgort

Private conmibuzars omer than sequeste 5 62,000 3 14,200 5 74200
Baquests 17000 17,000
Government grants 8,030 &,000
Investment retum appropriated Sy the goveming
board for ooerazans 41,500 1800 12,500
Sales o educatiznal matenals 2,000 2,000
Othes 2,000 2,000
Met assets released #om restrictions 47,000 417.000) -

Tota! revenues, gains. and cther supaort 10e.s00 7,200 *1E,700

Expenses:
Pragram sensces:
Research anc medical support

Puslic educaton —50ea
Communily serace AR OEG 15,500
Total program serdces —d el
Supportng serdces:
Fund ralsing 15,000
Managamentana ganeral B0az
Total supparting senices 24 000 24,000
Total expenses ] 10E GO0 o GAGLN * 08,000
Increase in ret aesets fram cperating activtes ] 1,500 T0 1 8,700
Nencparating:
Investrrent return net 5,000 1,100 14,100
I retum Bporop i by the g A board
Torinperanany (1,500} 11.000} (12,500
Conmbubens for endowment funzs 15,000 15,000
Cther comzonents of net perizdic pansicn cost 135} (135}
Pension-related changes other than net peross
pension cost w aq
Insreease in net ass et F7ae0 ——2¥ 300 25258
MNetasses, beginning of yaar 147110 JELDD 225810
MNetassats, end of yaar 3352200 & 150085 & 101100 3253300 3 251,165
=~
(8] Eavals-54 3t i i $00 - Fo J +—350-retdase-Charges in e pension-elated dems
1of i " i I i 1 £ Eo5t

aseets.
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State ot Aciivic
Yoar-Endod-duns 20208
{intheusands)
Without
Daner With-Daner
R o, beledl
Pri ibistions. |
Gt ——+850 ——17.000
———BOGe  ——Bpas
Irvesimentrelurrappropriated-bythe- 500 1000 12.500
& # whﬂﬂ.ﬂ‘l!ﬂr B .
Relmp o o b Ty
—=00e — 2000
Netaceats S . —
Fotatrevendes gains-andotersupper 459,600 3550 :
Expenses:
Program semnices.
Publicedusation . —=S8600 58000
. ' : — 9000 — 0o
o oLt oo ——15000
siatprogram-services —_&zpoo —
Maﬂaga.m.m e ——aee — 15060
=i ———8.000
e s e g—ry
——06.000 408000
Pension-related changes-ather than et periodi =
et
3596 7200 10810
—+3:808 -k 14400

Eguale- 540 oozt fbramc ibee phliaabae | @400 et f nror i oet- S50 netloss
(= B S-S BREEHER-B AR5 HER -2t HeFHESHER-GHPREF Pt .

Amendments to Subtopic 980-715

17. Amend paragraph 980-715-15-1, with a link to transition paragraph 715-20-
65-3, as follows:
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Regulated Operations—Compensation—Retirement Benefits

Scope and Scope Exceptions

> Overall Guidance

980-715-15-1 This Subtopic follows the same Scope and Scope Exceptions as
outlined in the Overall Subtopic, see Section 980-10-15. Accordingly, the guidance
related to the accounting for regulatory assets related to other postretirement
benefit costs (see Subtopic 715-60) is for rate-regulated entities that meet the
criteria for applying this Topic._In_addition, the provisions of paragraphs 715-30-
35-7A and 715-60-35-10A shall not change the accounting for regulatory assets
related to postretirement pension cost and other postretirement benefit cost for
rate-regulated entities.

18. Add Section 980-715-45, with a link to transition paragraph 715-20-65-3, as
follows:

Cther Presentation Matters

General

980-715-45-1 A rate-requlated entity shall present the amount of net periodic
pension cost and net periodic postretirement benefit cost in accordance with the
provisions of paragraph 715-20-45-3A.

19. Amend paragraphs 980-715-55-10 and 980-715-55-25, with a link to
transition paragraph 715-20-65-3, as follows:

Implementation Guidance and lllustrations

> |llustrations

> > Example 1. Accounting for Pensions by an Employer with Regulated
Operations

980-715-55-10 An employer with regulated operations sponsors a defined benefit
pension plan that is accounted for pursuant to Subtopic 715-30. To simplify the
Example, it is assumed that there are no remaining differences between amounts
previously recognized as net periodic pension cost and amounts allowable for rate-
making purposes. The employer’s determination of net periodic pension cost under
that Subtopic, however, differs from that allowable for rate-making purposes_in the
timing of recognition of net periodic pension cost as an expense. The following
schedule shows the amounts under both bases for the years 20X0-20X3.
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Net Periodic

Pension Cost Allowable Difference
under for Rate- for the Cumulative
Year Subtopic 715-30 Making Period Difference
20X0 $ 120 $ 200 $ (80) $ (80)
20X1 200 100 100 20
20X2 170 140 30 50
20X3 120 200 (80) {30)

980-715-55-25 The following illustrates the disclosure of the components of net
periodic pension cost for 20X0-20X3. It is assumed that there is no transition asset
or obligation remaining in accumulated other comprehensive income and there are
no gains or losses for the four-year period.

Senice cost ¥

Interest cost ' !

Expecied return on plan assets %
Net amortization and deferral

Net periodic pension cost determined
under Subtopic #4628 715-30

Amounl (capitalized) expensed due to
actions of the regulator

Net periodic pension cost recognized

20X0 20X1 20%2 20%3
$§ 00X 0§ 0X 0§ XX § XX
XK XK XXX XXX
(XX (X9 [l (00
120 200 170 120
(20) (30 50
§ 120 § 180 § 140 § 170

(a) Amounts are excluded for illustrative purposes only.
{b} The companents of net perodic pension cost other than the senice cost component are included

in the line ilem "other incomef{expense}" in the income statement.
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Part II-Amendments Related to the Overview and
Background Sections of Topic 715

20. As part of the Board's ongoing initiative to unify and improve the Overview
and Background Sections across Topics and Subtopics, the amendments in this
Update include the amendments to the Overview and Background Sections of
Subtopics 715-10, 715-20, 715-30, and 715-60, which are related to defined
benefit plans. These amendments are considered to be nonsubstantial changes
and are not expected to affect the related guidance in those Subtopics.

Amendments to Subtopic 715-10

21. Amend paragraph 715-10-05-2 and supersede paragraphs 715-10-05-4,
715-10-05-8, and 715-10-05-10, with no link to a transition paragraph, as follows:

Compensation—Retirement Benefits—Overall

Overview and Background

715-10-05-1 The Compensation—Retirement Benefits Topic establishes
standards of financial accounting and reporting for an employer that offers pension,
other postretirement, and certain special or contractual termination benefits to its
employees.

715-10-05-2 This Topic contains the following Subtopics:

a. Overall {Subtopic 715-10)

b. Defined Benefit Plans—General (Subtopic 715-20)

c. Defined Benefit Plans—Pension (Subtopic 715-30)

cc. Defined Benefit Plans—Other Postretirement (Subtopic 715-60)

d. Defined Contribution Plans (Subtopic 715-70)

e. Multiemployer Plans (Subtopic 715-80)

f. Subparagraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update No. 2017-
07. i .

715-10-05-3 Throughout the Codification, content is structured and authored using
an asset and liability model as its underlying premise. However, the original
content used to populate this Topic was based on an expense recognition model
rather than an asset and liability model. Because the expense recognition model
focuses primarily on remeasurement, the majority of the guidance throughout this
Topic is contained in the Subsequent Measurement Sections of the applicable
Subtopics.

715-10-054 Paragraph superseded by Acco
j 5-20-provides—di e-and

unting Standards Update No. 2017-
07.Subtepic he esentationauidance—re
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715-10-05-5 Paragraph not used.

715-10-05-6 The guidance in this Topic is derived from the basic idea that a benefit
plan is an exchange between the employer and the employee. In exchange for
services provided by the employee, the employer promises to provide, in addition
to current wages and other benefits, an amount of retirement income or benefit. It
follows from that basic view that benefits are not gratuities but instead are part of
an employee’s compensation, and because payment is deferred, the benefit plan
is a type of deferred compensation. It also follows that the employer’s obligation
for that compensation is incurred when the services are rendered.

715-10-05-7 A benefit plan is an arrangement that is mutually understood by an
employer and its employees, whereby an employer undertakes to provide its
current and former employees with benefits after they retire in exchange for the
employees’ services over a specified period of time, upon attaining a specified age
while in service, or both. Benefits may commence immediately upon termination
of service or may be deferred until retired employees attain a specified age.

715-10-05-8 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update No. 2017-

715-10-05-9 Because the obligation to provide benefits arises as employees
render the services necessary to earn the benefits pursuant to the terms of the
plan, this Topic provides guidance regarding when the cost of providing the
benefits should be recognized over those employee service periods.

715-10-05-10 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update No. 2017-

Amendments to Subtopic 715-20

22. Amend paragraphs 715-20-05-1 through 05-3, with no link to a transition
paragraph, as follows:
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Compensation—Retirement Benefits—Defined Benefit
Plans—General

Overview and Background

715-20-05-1 This Subtopic provides guidance on the disclosure and other
accounting and reporting requirements related to single-employer defined benefit

pension and other postretirement benefit plans.—Fhe-fellowing-Subtepics-provide
additienat-assounting-andreperting guidarce:

a. Subpa ragraph sunerseded bv Accountmq Standards Ldeate No 2017-

715-20-05-2 This Subtopic addresses:

a. The content and organization of annual disclosures about defined benefit
pension plans and other postretirement benefits

b. Disclosures required for interim-period financial reports.

c. Presentation matters about defined benefit pension and other
postretirement benefit plans.

715-20-05-3 An employerthat sponsors one or more defined benefit pension or
other postretirement benefit plans shallis required to provide the information called
for in Section 715-20-50 separately for pension plans and other postretirement
benefit plans.

Amendments to Subtopic 715-30

23. Amend paragraphs 715-30-05-2, 715-30-05-4 (and supersede its related
heading}, 715-30-05-6, and 715-30-05-9 and supersede paragraphs 715-30-05-5,
715-30-05-7 through 05-8, and 715-30-05-10 through 05-11, with no link to a
transition paragraph, as follows:

Compensation—Retirement Benefits—Defined Benefit
Plans—Pension

Overview and Background

General
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715-30-05-1 This Subtopic provides guidance on defined benefit pension
accounting for an employer that offers pension benefits to its employees. This
Subtopic focuses on an employer's accounting for a singie-employer defined
benefit pension plan.

715-30-05-2 Many of the provisions in this Subtopic are the same as or are similar
to the provisions of Subtopic 715-60. Consequently, the guidance provided in that
Subtopic may be useful in understanding and implementing many of the provisions
of this Subtopic. However, there are differences between the specific requirements
of the two Subtopics, and therefore the specific guidance in one Subtopic sha#
should not be used to override guidance of the other.

715-30-05-3 The guidance in this Subtopic is presented in the following two
Subsections:

a. General
b. Settlements, Curtailments, and Certain Termination Benefits.

DefinedB fit PensionPl

715-30-054 The General Subsections address the fundamentals of defined
benefit pension accounting. A pension benefit is part of the compensation paid to

an employee for services. meeﬂned-beneﬁ%penemkplan—meempleyeewemmes

Generally, the amount of
benefit fo be paid depends on a number of future events that are incorporated in
the plan’s benefit formula, often including how long the employee and any
survivors live, how many years of service the employee renders, and the
employee’s compensation in the years immediately before retirement or
termination. Conceptually, compensaticn cost should be recognized in the period
in which the employee renders services. Although the complexity and uncertainty
of the pension arrangement may preclude complete achievement of that goal, a
fundamental objective of this Subtopic is to approximate mcre closely the
recognition of the compensation cost of an employee’s pension benefits over that
employee’s service period. [Content moved from paragraph 715-30-05-7]

715- 30-{)5 5 Paraqraph superseded bv Accountlnq Standarde Update No. 201 7-
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and-reportingrequirementsset forth-inthis-Subtepisinclude measurement of net

periodic _pension cost and benefit obligations (see paragraphs 715-30-35-1A
through 35-41), assumptions {see paragraphs 715-30-35-42 through 35-49), and
measurement of plan assets (see paragraphs 715-30-35-50 through 35-52).

715-30-05-7 Paragraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update Ne 2017-

emp%eyee—s—seree-peﬂed—[Content moved to paragraph 715 30-05-4]
715- 30 05-8 Paragr Dh sunerseded bv Accountmq Standards Update No 2017-

Settlements, Curtailments, and Certain Termination Benefits

715-20-05-9 The Settlements, Curtailments, and Certain Termination Benefits
Subsections establish standards for an employer's accounting for settiement of
defined benefit pension obligations, for curtailment of a defined benefit pension
plan, and for certain termination benefits, and define the events that require
adjustments to assets and liabilities and that require certain amounts previously
recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income to be recognized in
earnings. The Settlements, Curtailments, and Certain Termination Benefits
Subsections provide guidance that results in the net gain or loss and prior
service cost, which were previously recognized in accumulated other
comprehensive income, being recognized in income in the period when all-ef-the

followingspecific conditions are met.met:

a. Subparagraph superseded by Accounting Standards Update No. 2017-

b. g-tflbnaraqraph superseded by Accountlnq Standards Update No. 2017-

G gzbnﬁg@ph superseded by Accounting Standards Undate No. 2017-

d. (S)Eboﬁgr_ph superseded by Accounting Standards Undate No. 2017-

e. gszgr_ag@oh superseded bv Accounting Standards Update No. 2017-

f. :S);bparaqraph superseded by Accountlnq Standards Update No. 2017-
07 Theplanceases-to-exist-as-an-entity-
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715- 30-05 10 Paragraph superseded bv Accountlnq Standards Update No 201?-

715- 30 05 11 Paragraph suoerseded by Accounhnq Standards Update No. 2017-

Amendments to Subtopic 715-60

24, Amend paragraphs 715-60-05-2, 715-60-05-7, and 715-60-05-11 and
supersede paragraphs 715-60-05-3 through 05-5 and 715-60-05-9 through 05-10,
with no link to a transition paragraph, as follows:

Compensation—Retirement Benefits—Defined Benefit
Plans—Other Postretirement

Overview and Background

General

715-60-05-1 This Subtopic provides accounting and reporting guidance for
other postretirement benefits. The guidance in this Subtopic is presented in the
following four Subsections:

a. General

b. Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act
c. Settlements, Curtailments, and Certain Termination Benefits

d. Split-Dollar Life Insurance Arrangements.

715-60-05-2 The General Subsections provide guidance on an employer's
accounting and reporting for a defined benefit postretirement benefit plan, that
is, a single-employer plan that defines the nonpension postretirement
benefits to be provided to retirees. This Subtopic refers to these benefits as
postretlrement benefits and to these plans as postrehrement plans. Fer—wrpeses
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General!y, the amount of those bene’r’ts depends on the
benefit formula (whlch may include factors such as the number of years of service
rendered or the employee's compensation before retirement or termination), the
longevity of the retiree and any beneficiaries and covered dependents, and the
incidence of events requiring benefit payments (for example, ilinesses affecting the
amount of health care required). [Content moved from paragraph 715-60-05-4]

715 60-05- 3 Paragraph unerseded by Accountlnq Standards Undate No. 2017-

samce%equwed}- [Content moved to paragraph 715- 60 05 2]
715- GD 05 5 Paragraph suDerseded by Accountlnu Standards UDdate No 201 ?-

715-60-05-6 Although this Subtopic applies to all defined benefit postretirement
plans other than pensions, postretirement health care benefits are likely to be
the most significant in terms of cost and prevalence, and certain of the issues that
arise in measuring those benefits are unique.

715-60-05-7 Many of the provisions in this Subtopic are the same as or similar to
the provisions of Subtopic 715-30. Consequently, the guidance provided in that
Subtopic may be useful in understanding and implementing many of the provisions
of this Subtopic. However, there are differences between the specific requirements
of this Subtopic and that Subtopic, and therefore the specific guidance in one
Subtopic shalishould not be used to cverride guidance of the other.

Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act
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715-60-05-8 The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization
Act Subsections provide guidance on the accounting for the effects of the Medicare
Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003 for employers that
sponsor postretirement health care plans that provide prescription drug benefits.

715-60-05-9 Paraqraph superseded by Accountlnq Standards Update No 201?-

715-60-05-11 The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization
Act Subsections make reference to various provisions of the Act and, in many
cases, paraphrase those provisions. However, nothing in these
Subsections shallshould be considered a definitive interpretation of any provision
of the Act for any purpose.

Settlements, Curtailments, and Certain Termination Benefits

715-60-05-12 The Settlements, Curtailments, and Certain Termination Benefits
Subsections provide guidance on an employer's accounting for settlement of
defined benefit postretirement obligations, for curtailment of a defined benefit
postretirement plan, and for termination benefits.

Split-Dollar Life Insurance Arrangements

715-60-05-13 The Split-Dollar Life Insurance Arrangements Subsections provide
guidance on accounting and reporting for split-dollar life insurance arrangements.

715-60-05-14 Entities purchase life insurance for various reasons that may include
protecting against the loss of key employees, funding deferred compensation and
postretirement benefit obligations, and providing an investment return. One form
of this insurance is split-dollar life insurance. The structure of split-dollar life
insurance arrangements can be complex and varied.

715-60-05-15 The two most common types of arrangements are endorsement
split-dollar life insurance arrangements and collateral assignment split-dollar
life insurance arrangements. Generally, the difference between these
arrangements is dependent on the ownership and control of the life insurance
policy.
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Amendments to Status Sections

25. Amend paragraph 220-10-00-1, by adding the following items to the table, as
follows:

220-10-00-1 The following table identifies the changes made to this Subtopic.

Accounting

Standards
Paragraph Action Update Date
220-10-45-17A Amended 2017-07 03/10/2017
220-10-55-17B Amended 2017-07 03/10/2017
220-10-55-17E Amended 2017-07 03/10/2017

26. Amend paragraph 330-10-00-1, by adding the following items to the table, as
follows:

330-10-00-1 The following table identifies the changes made to this Subtopic.

Accounting

Standards
Paragraph Action Update Date
330-10-55-5 Superseded 2017-07 03/10/2017
through 55-7
330-10-55-8A Added 2017-07 03/10/2017

27. Amend paragraph 715-10-00-1, by adding the following items to the table, as
follows:

715-10-00-1 The following table identifies the changes made to this Subtopic.

Accounting

Standards
Paragraph Action Update Date
715-10-05-2 Amended 2017-07 03/10/2017
715-10-05-4 Superseded 2017-07 03/10/2017
715-10-05-8 Superseded 2017-07 0311072017
715-10-05-10 Superseded 2017-07 03/10/2017

28. Amend paragraph 715-20-00-1, by adding the following items to the table, as
follows:

715-20-00-1 The following table identifies the changes made to this Subtopic.
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Accounting

Standards
Paragraph Action Update Date
Net Periodic Amended 2017-07 03/10/2017
Pension Cost
Public Business Added 2017-07 03/10/2017
Entity
715-20-05-1 Amended 2017-07 03/10/2017
through 05-3
715-20-45-3A Added 2017-07 03/10/2017
715-20-50-1 Amended 2017-07 03/10/2017
715-20-50-5 Amended 2017-07 03/10/2017
715-20-50-6 Amended 2017-07 03/10/2017
715-20-55-13 Amended 2017-07 03/10/2017
715-20-55-17 Amended 2017-07 03/10/2017
715-20-55-18 Amended 2017-07 03/10/2017
715-20-65-3 Added 2017-07 03/10/2017

29. Amend paragraph 715-30-00-1, by adding the following items to the table, as
follows:

715-30-00-1 The following table identifies the changes made to this Subtopic.

Accounting

Standards
Paragraph Action Update Date
Actuarial Funding | Superseded 2017-07 03/10/2017
Method
Actuarial Gain or | Superseded 2017-07 03/102017
Loss
Allocated Superseded 2017-07 0311072017
Contract
Benefit Approach | Superseded 2017-07 03/10/2017
Contributory Plan | Superseded 2017-07 03/10/2017
Cost- Superseded 2017-07 03110/2017
Compensation
Approach
Funding Method Superseded 2017-07 03/10/2017
Funding Policy Superseded 2017-07 03/10/2017
Implicit Approach | Superseded 2017-07 03/10/2017
to Assumptions
Net Periodic Amended 201707 03/10/2017
Pension Cost
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Accounting

Standards
Paragraph Action Update Date
Plan Assets Superseded 2017-07 03/10/2017
Available for
Benefits
Sponsor (2nd def.) | Superseded 2017-07 03/10/2017
Unallocated Superseded 2017-07 03/10/2017
Contract
715-30-05-2 Amended 2017-07 03/10/2017
715-30-054 Amended 2017-07 03/10/2017
715-30-05-5 Superseded 2017-07 03/10/2017
715-30-05-6 Amended 2017-07 03/10/2017
715-30-05-7 Superseded 2017-07 03/10/2017
715-30-05-8 Superseded 2017-07 03/10/2017
715-30-05-8 Amended 2017-07 03/10/2017
715-30-05-10 Superseded 2017-07 03/10/2017
715-30-05-11 Superseded 2017-07 03/10/2017
715-30-35-7A Added 2017-07 03/10/2017
715-30-60-2 Amended 2017-07 03/10/2017

30. Amend paragraph 715-60-C0-1, by adding the following items to the table, as

follows:

715-60-00-1 The following table identifies the changes made to this Subtopic.

Accounting

Standards
Paragraph Action Update Date
715-60-05-2 Amended 2017-07 03/10/2017
715-60-05-3 Superseded 2017-07 03/10/2017
through 05-5
715-60-05-7 Amended 2017-07 03/10/2017
715-60-05-9 Superseded 2017-07 03/10/2017
715-60-05-10 Superseded 2017-07 03/10/2017
715-60-05-11 Amended 2017-07 03/10/2017
715-60-35-10A Added 2017-07 03/10/2017
715-60-55-86 Amended 2017-07 03/10/2017
715-60-55-89 Amended 2017-07 03/10/2017
715-60-55-82 Amended 2017-07 03/10/2017

31. Amend paragraph 958-225-00-1, by adding the following item to the table, as

follows:
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958-225-00-1 The following table identifies the changes made to this Subtopic.

Accounting

Standards
Paragraph Action Update Date
958-225-45-11 Amended 2017-07 03/10/2017

32. Amend paragraph 958-715-00-1, by adding the following items to the table,

as follows:

958-715-00-1 The following table identifies the changes made to this Subtopic.

Accounting

Standards
Paragraph Action Update Date
958-715-45-1 Amended 2017-07 03/10/2017
958-715-45-2 Amended 2017-07 03/10/2017
958-715-45-3 Added 2017-07 03/10/2017
958-715-55-4 Amended 2017-07 03/10/2017
958-715-55-6 Amended 2017-07 03/10/2017
958-715-55-7 Amended 2017-07 03/10/2017
958-715-55-8 Superseded 2017-07 03/10/2017

33. Amend paragraph 980-715-00-1, by adding the following items to the table,

as follows:

980-715-00-1 The following table identifies the changes made to this Subtopic.

Accounting

Standards
Paragraph Action Update Date
980-715-15-1 Amended 2017-07 03/10/2017
980-715-45-1 Added 2017-07 03/10/2017
980-715-55-10 Amended 2017-07 03/10/2017
980-715-55-25 Amended 2017-07 03/10/2017

The amendments in this Update were adopted by the affirnative vote of five
members of the Financial Accounting Standards Board. Messrs. Kroeker and
Smith dissented.

Mr. Kroeker dissents from the issuance of this Accounting Standards Update
because the amendments, in his view, are focused on establishing mandatory
distinctions related to financial performance reporting, albeit for a limited
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population of transactions, rather than providing any meaningful increase in
transparency related to postemployment benefit cost.

In Mr. Kroeker's view, the Board should defer finalizing the decisions in this project
that mandate fundamental changes in performance reporting until the Board
completes work on its broader research project on financial performance
reporting—a part of the Board's current, active research agenda. In mandating
fundamental performance reporting changes in this piecemeal approach to
establishing performance reporting requirements, the Board is creating
inconsistencies with other accounting standards and appears to be taking an
approach at the standards level that conflicts with certain of the alternatives that
the Board is exploring in its Invitation to Comment, Agenda Consultation, which
was issued in August 2016.

Reporting Financial Performance (Operating versus Nonoperating
Performance)

The shortcomings and inconsistencies created by the approach in this Update are
numerous and, in Mr. Kroeker's view, should be considered in a more holistic
manner. Furthermore, Mr. Kroeker does not see a compelling reason to
immediately mandate the fundamental performance reporting aspects of the
amendments in this Update given that current reporting requirements already
provide for a disaggregation of the various components of net benefit cost. In doing
so, Mr. Kroeker believes that the Board may be creating impediments to
addressing more fundamental issues in any future performance reporting project.
This is particularly the case when the Board finalizes conclusions in this project
that may be inconsistent with conclusions that might be reached in the event a
broader project is undertaken; thus, resulting in the need for a reconsideration of
the conclusions in this Update.

Comment letter respondents to the proposed Update noted a number of apparent
contradictions, inconsistencies, and questions—most focused on the distinction
that the Board is creating between operating performance and nonocperating
performance. Some of the inconsistencies seem difficult to address or reconcile
more broadly and, thus, in Mr. Kroeker's view, call into question the conclusions in
this Update.

For example, many comment letter respondents questioned why amortization of
prior service cost or credits should be reported outside of operating performance
in @ manner that is inconsistent with current service cost. Amortization of prior
service cost or credit arises from plan amendments, and these increases or
decreases in benefits are granted as part of an exchange with employees for their
services. Therefore, the Board is creating an inconsistency in mandating reporting
economic consequences of granting benefits in one case as operating and in the
other as nonoperating. Likewise, many components of pension and other
postemployment benefit gains and losses are related to actual or expected
changes in the cost of the benefits that have been or will be provided to employees,
such as gains or losses that result from changes to salary assumptions, mortality
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rates, and health care cost trends. Although those amounts reflect changes from
estimates made in prior periods, mandating (as required by this Update) that such
changes be accounted for outside of operating income seems inconsistent with
virtually every other area of existing financial reporting.

In addition, the Board is creating inconsistencies between this standard and other
existing standards. For example, costs associated with exit or disposal activities
that do not involve a discontinued operation are required, pursuant to existing
standards, to be included within income for operations. Likewise, gains and losses
on sales of long-lived assets and accretion expense on asset retirement
obligations also are required to be included within operating income. The
amendments in this Update mandate that the accretion component of net benefit
cost and the effects of certain settlements or curtailments other than those
accounted for as one-time involuntary termination benefits be reported outside of
income from operations. This inconsistency seems further amplified because
settlements and curtailments of defined benefit obligations are often incurred in
connection with impairments and other exit and disposal activities.

Furthermore, the amendments in this Update create an inconsistency in the way
that pension cost is classified in the statement of financial performance when
compared with the way pension funding is classified in the statement of cash flows.
While Mr. Kroeker is not convinced that the classification between the two
statements should in all cases be cohesive, he notes that this notion is being
explored in the Board's research on financial performance reporting and, thus,
questions whether mandating such classification differences is warranted at this
time.

More fundamentally, Mr. Kroeker believes that most of these issues arise because
of the absence of a definition or clear concept articulating the basis for mandating
distinctions between operating performance and nonoperating performance.
Thus, he believes the Board should have deferred the project or limited the scope
to only addressing the capitalization of benefit cost. Given these shortcomings,
both conceptual and when compared with other existing requirements, Mr. Kroeker
believes that the amendments in this Update have the potential to result in more
confusing income statement presentation requirements by isolating certain
components of net benefit cost and introducing one or more additional line items
for other components of net benefit cost. In this respect, the amendments establish
a distinction between operating expenses and noncperating expenses that both
differs from and exceeds the guidance required by other accounting standards.

Capitalization of Service Cost

Mr. Kroeker generally agrees with the requirement in this Update that allowing only
the service cost component of net periodic benefit cost to be eligible for
capitalization could result in an improvement to financial reporting. However, he
also is supportive of providing entities with an accounting policy election to
capitalize only the service cost component of net benefit cost that would not
preclude capitalization of the other components of net benefit cost. This would
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allow entities flexibility to adapt the capitalization of such postretirement costs to
the manner of conducting business with their customers. For example, when the
entire amount of net benefit cost is passed on directly to customers {as may be the
case because of rate regulation or contract pricing provisions), Mr. Kroeker
believes that classifying the components of net benefit cost consistently with the
recovery directly from customers results in more decision-useful financial
reporting. Another alternative would have been for the Board to provide an
exception (rather than a broad accounting policy election) allowing entities in
certain industries to continue to capitalize the components of net benefit cost
consistently with their recovery of those costs directly from customers.

Mr. Smith dissents from the issuance of this Update because the benefits of the
amendments fail to justify the costs for rate-regulated entities. Mr. Smith
acknowledges the objections of Mr. Kroeker and agrees with many of his points;
however, Mr. Smith also notes that the benefits of the amendments to financial
statement users of most companies justify the costs because he does not believe
that the costs for most companies will be significant.

Mr. Smith alsc understands that the costs to implement systems changes for most
rate-regulated entities will be significant. The amendments in this Update allow
entities to capitalize only the service component of net benefit cost, and, therefore,
for most entities that capitalize employee costs, net income will change when the
amendments are implemented. However, while the other components of net
benefit cost are precluded from being capitalized in property, plant, and equipment
for rate-regulated entities, they will be capitalized in regulatory assets because
they are an allowable cost. Consequently, net income will change only for the
difference (if any) between the amortization period of regulatory assets and the
amortization period of property, plant, and equipment and any consequential
changes in the allowance for funds used during construction.

Mr. Smith believes that the costs to entities to create this reclassification of the
balance sheet (and components of the income statement) do not justify the
benefits of the changes of financial information to users. The information about the
components of net benefit cost are provided in the notes to the financial
statements, which financial statement users can evaluate. For this reason, Mr.
Smith would exclude operations subject to Topic 980, Regulated Operations, from
the application of the amendments in this Update.

Members of the Financial Accounting Standards Board:

Russell G. Golden, Chairman
James L. Kroeker, Vice Chairman
Christine A. Botosan

Dary! E. Buck

R. Harold Schroeder

Marc A. Siegel

Lawrence W. Smith
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Background Information and
Basis for Conclusions

Introduction

BC1. The following summarizes the Board's considerations in reaching the
conclusions in this Update on Part | of the amendments to the Codification on the
presentation of net periodic pension cost and net periodic postretirement benefit
cost. It includes reasons for accepting certain approaches and rejecting others.
Individual Board members gave greater weight to some factors than to others. The
amendments in Part I, which are related to the Overview and Background
Sections of Topic 715, are part of the Board's ongoing initiative to unify and
improve the Overview and Background Sections across Topics and Subtopics.

BC2. On June 29, 2015, the Board added a project to its technical agenda to
improve the presentation of net periodic pension cost and net periodic
postretirement benefit cost. On January 26, 2016, the Board issued proposed
Accounting Standards Update, Compensation—Retirement Benefits (Topic 715):
Improving the Presentation of Net Periodic Pension Cost and Net Periodic
Postretirement Benefit Cost (the proposed Update), for public comment with the
comment period ending on April 25, 2016. The Board received 37 comment letters
in response to the questions in the proposed Update. All but one of the financial
statement users that provided comment letters or responded to the staff's outreach
supported the amendments in the proposed Update, while feedback was mixed
from the comment letter respondents from other groups.

Benefits and Costs

BC3. The objectives of the amendments in this Update are to increase
transparency of the presentation of net pericdic pension cost and net periodic
postretirement benefit cost (net benefit cost) and provide financial statement users
with additional disaggregated information to facilitate their analyses. Those
objectives align with the objective of financial reporting, which is to provide
information that is useful to present and potential investors, creditors, donors, and
other capital market participants in making rational investment, credit, and similar
resource allocation decisions. However, the benefits of providing information for
that purpose should justify the related costs. Present and potential investors,
creditors, donors, and other users of financial information benefit from
improvements in financial reporting, while the costs to implement new guidance
are borne primarily by present investors. The Board's assessment of the costs and
benefits of issuing new guidance is unavoidably more qualitative than quantitative
because there is no method to objectively measure the costs to implement new
guidance or to quantify the value of improved information in financial statements.
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BC4. The Board developed the amendments in this Update to provide financial
statement users with more relevant information. In the Board's view, the
amendments provide the benefit of improving consistent application of GAAP by
providing explicit guidance on the presentation of the service cost component and
the other components of net benefit cost in the income statement and changing
the requirement on the capitalization of net benefit cost as assets in the statement
of financial position. The amendments have an appropriate conceptual basis and
acknowledge that the components of net benefit cost have different decision
usefulness for financial statement users. The Board does not anticipate that
entities will incur significant costs as a result of the amendments, although it
understands that implementation efforts might be relatively higher for certain
entities (such as rate-regulated entities). The Board concluded that the benefits of
applying the amendments justify the costs.

Background Information

BC5. According to the guidance in paragraphs 715-30-35-4 and 715-60-35-9, net
benefit cost is made up of the following components that reflect different aspects
of an employer’s financial arrangements as well as the cost of benefits earned by
employees:

a. Service cost

b. Interest cost

c. Actual return on plan assets, if any

d. Amortization of any prior service cost or credit included in accumulated
other comprehensive income

e. Gain or loss (including the effects of changes in assumptions), which
includes, to the extent recognized, amortization of the net gain or loss
included in accumulated other comprehensive income

f.  Amortization of any net transition asset or obligation existing at the date
of initial application of Topic 715 and remaining in accumulated other
comprehensive income.

BCB. Topic 715 requires an entity to present defined benefit cost as a net amount
that may be capitalized as part of an asset where appropriate {for example, as a
part of the cost of inventory produced during a period). However, that Topic does
not prescribe where net benefit cost should be presented in the income statement
and does not require an entity to disclose by line item the amount of net benefit
cost that is presented in the income statement or capitalized in assets.

BC7. Stakeholders raised concerns that the presentation of defined benefit cost
on a net basis combines elements that are distinctly different in their predictive
value, resulting in a presentation that has more limited value for financial statement
users. The reduced transparency in the presentation of net benefit cost also makes
financial statement users' analyses potentially less robust and more costly.
Stakeholders also highlighted the growing significance of this issue in the current
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environment in which some entities have elected to recognize all gains and losses
from the remeasurements of plan assets and defined benefit obligations
immediately in the income statement. This may result in significantly more volatility
in the line items that typically include net benefit cost—for example, cost of sales
or selling, general, and administrative expenses. As a result, interim measures of
performance such as gross profit and operating income (loss) can be significantly
affected with reduced predictive value to users.

Presentation of Net Benefit Cost in the Income Statement

BC8. The Board noted that disaggregation of material and economically different
components of net benefit cost will improve consistency with the reporting practice
for many other parts of an employer's operations. The Board expects that the
amendments in this Update will better meet the needs of financial statement users.

BCS. The Board decided to require separation of the service cost component from
the other components of net benefit cost, considering that service cost is the
component that exclusively originates from employee services during the current
period and potentially has a significantly different effect in terms of information
usefulness to financial statement users. Excluding the other components of net
benefit cost from the line item or items reporting current employee compensation
costs makes that line item or items more relevant for assessing an entity’s
continuing operating costs.

BC10. Some respondents that disagreed with the amendments in the proposed
Update stated that all components of net benefit cost arise from retirement
arrangements, adding that the other components of net benefit cost are integral
components of the ongoing cost of providing retirement benefits to employees and
must be recovered from operations. Some respondents commented that the
proposed amendments contained no discussion of, or support for, a change in one
of the fundamental aspects of the pension accounting model under GAAP—
reporting net cost.

BC11. The Beard noted that the service cost component is conceptually different
from the other components of net benefit cost based on a comprehensive
consideration on the following factors:

a. The event that caused an item

b. The activity with which an item is associated

c. Similarities and differences in the frequency with which similar
components of comprehensive income are expected to result in similar
amounts to be recognized in the future

d. The types of changes in economic conditions that can affect the cash flows
related either to an existing asset or an existing liability or to similar
revenues, expenses, and gains or losses in the future

e. Similarities and differences in measurement method.
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BC12. The Board also noted that separation of the service cost component from
the other compenents is highly supperted by financial statement users and is
consistent with the adjustment often made by some users in their analyses.

BC13. Some respondents stated that sufficient information on the components of
net benefit cost is already disclosed in the note to financial statements and that the
amendments in the proposed Update would not enhance the transparency of the
financial information to users. Cther respondents suggested that the Board
consider an alternative of requiring entities to disclose by line item(s) the amount
of net benefit cost presented in the income statement or capitalized in assets
instead of changing the presentation of net benefit cost in the income statement.

BC14. In the Board's view, there is a disconnect between the amount of net benefit
cost disclosed in the note and the amount presented in the income statement
because there is a lack of transparency about amounts capitalized and the effect
of net benefit cost on an individual line item or items in the income statement. The
Board also noted that the alternative proposed by some respondents would be
costly and complex for reporting entities, especially those that could not separately
identify a specific cost following the allocation of a pool of costs to multiple
departments or cost centers. Some Board members disagreed with those
respondents who indicated that disclosure is just as useful as presentation.

BC15. Some respondents commented that there is no underlying difference in
principle between current service cost and prior service cost. The two components
both reflect the compensation cost of pension benefits granted to employees in
exchange for services provided and, therefore, should be treated in the same way.

BC16. The Board considered pursuing, but decided not to pursue, an alternative
to include the prior service cost or credit component in the line item(s) reporting
current employee compensation because this component is not exclusively related
to the current period's employee services and may add complexity to financial
statement users’ analyses of an entity's core operating performance. The Board
also noted that users generally view (a) the service cost component as mast clearly
representing an operating component included in net benefit cost and {b}) exclude
the prior service cost or credit component from their analyses.

BC17. The Board noted that the prior service cost or credit component is
conceptually different from the service cost component based on a comprehensive
consideration of the factors indicated in paragraph BC11. The Board
acknowledges that the decision of treating the prior service cost or credit
component differently from the service compenent also reflects a consideration
from a practical perspective that is driven by user needs.

BC18. The Board further considered various alternatives to disaggregate the other
components of net benefit cost. For example:

a. An alternative to present the net amount of the interest cost component
and expected return on plan assets separately from the other
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components. Considering the same factors discussed in paragraph
BC11, the Board noted that those two components are conceptually
different from the remaining components and have sufficiently different
usefulness to financial statement users when compared with the other
compenents. In addition, this alternative would improve convergence with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) that require
recognizing net interest costincome separately from the other
components of defined benefit cost. However, the Board noted that
expected return on plan assets includes both an amount that arises from
the passage of time and amounts that arise from other changes.
Aggregating interest cost with expected return on plan assets could result
in potentially misleading informaticn about a plan’s net financing cost or
income. The Board also noted that financial statement users usually
calculate a plan's net financing cost or income differently from the net
amount of the interest cost component and expected return on plan
assets.

b. An alternative to present the gain or loss component separately from any
other components. This alternative is based on the view that the gain or
loss component has completely different characteristics and represents
the effects of changes in estimates, rather than the result of operating or
financing decisions. The amendments in the January 26, 2016 proposed
Accounting Standards Update, Compensation—Retirement Benefits—
Defined Benefit Plans—General (Subtopic 715-20): Changes to the
Disclosure Requirements for Defined Benefit Plans, would require an
entity to disclose reasons for significant gains and losses affecting the
benefit obligation or plan assets that were recognized during the period.
The Board decided that disaggregated presentation of the gain or loss
component should not be required because the amendments in this
Update along with the current and proposed disclosure requirements
relating to the separate components of net benefit cost would provide
sufficient information to financial statement users. Furthermore, the
Board understands that the gain or loss component combines gains and
losses of various types and therefore includes both compensation and
financial items that are not readily separable. The Board discussed an
alternative to allow an entity to present compensation-related gains or
losses separately from the financial-related gains or losses in the income
statement to address some respondents’ concerns that a portion of the
gain or loss component should be included in the operating results. The
Board noted that this alternative does not address the needs of financial
statement users and might result in more diversity and implementation
issues in practice.

BC19. The Board decided not to require further disaggregation of the other
components of net benefit cost. However, the amendments in this Update do not
prohibit an entity from providing disaggregated information if the entity decides that
such information is sufficiently important to financial statement users to merit
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separate presentation, as long as the nature of each line item presenting the
disaggregated components is appropriately described.

BC20. The Board decided to require an entity to present the other components of
net benefit cost outside a subtotal of income from operations, if one is presented.
In general, the Board stated that these components either are related to an entity's
financing or investing activities or are driven by the effects of recycling prior-period
changes and results in subsequent periods. Therefore, the majority of the effect in
those components will not be directly relevant for assessing an entity’s continuing
operating costs and should not be included in the operating metric, if one is
presented. However, the Board understands the varieties of presentations and
subtotals used in an entity's income statement. If a subtotal of income from
operations is not presented, the entity will have discretion to present the other
components of net benefit cost wherever it is appropriate in the income statement.
Such presentation should convey the underlying nature of these components, be
separated from the presentation of the service cost component, and not conflict
with the Board's intent. The Board considered but decided not to require an entity
to present the other components of net benefit cost in a separate line item or items
in the income statement because the Board noted that such presentation might be
required under other regulations and rules. However, if a separate line item or
items are used, that line item or items must be appropriately described.

BC21. Some respondents did not support a prescriptive approach to the
presentation of the other compeonents. They stated that because current GAAP
has no definition of operating income or lacks guidelines on what should be
included in operating income, the amendments in this Update might be implicitly
defining operating income. They suggested that the Board defer changes to the
presentation of net benefit cost until it defines operating income or decides on
performance statement presentation.

BC22. The Board clarified that it is not attempting to define operating income or
express its view on a broader or narrower definition of operating income in this
Update. In the Board's view, the service cost component is an operating item and
the other components are a combination of other items that reflect both operating
aspects and nonoperating aspects. The Board's decision that the other
components should be presented outside a subtotal of income from operations, if
one is presented, is primarily driven by the objectives to promote comparability of
the financial statements and to avoid unnecessary implementation difficulties and
costs in practice.

BC23. The Board acknowledges some respondents’ views that the amendments
in the proposed Update would be inconsistent with other areas in current GAAP,
such as accretion expense of asset retirement obligations and embedded interest
cost of operating leases that are required to be included in operating income.
However, the Board noted that such inconsistency should be assessed in the
context of the particular situation in which it occurs. For example, differences
between the presentation of accretion expense of asset retirement obligations and
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the other components of net benefit cost could be driven by various factors, such
as differences in the timing and scope of the project, user feedback, and availability
of valid alternatives, which might not necessarily warrant alignment.

Capitalization of Net Benefit Cost in Assets

BC24. The Board noted that disaggregated presentation of net benefit cost in the
income statement provides an opportunity to reassess the components that are
eligible to be capitalized. Capitalizing net benefit cost at the aggregate level
includes costs related to financing or investing activities and effects recycled from
prior periods in the capitalized amounts of assets. Designating the service cost
component as the only component eligible for capitalization will limit capitalized
amounts to the component that exclusively originates from employee services
during the current period, improve comparability between entities, and reduce the
need for a potential requirement to disclose the capitalized amount of net benefit
cost in assets. The Board noted that these benefits outweigh the additional costs
that certain entities may incur to reform or reallocate the net benefit cost in their
costing systems. The Board decided that the amount of net benefit cost capitalized
in an asset will not be subject to further disaggregation for presentation or
disclosure purposes when the cost of the asset is subsequently reported in net
income as cost of products sold, depreciation and amortization expense, and so
forth.

BC25. The Board considered requiring capitalization of the interest cost
component of net benefit cost in assets. However, the Board noted that there is a
conceptual difference between the interest cost component of net benefit cost and
the interest cost required to be capitalized under Subtopic 835-20, Interest—
Capitalization of Interest. The interest cost component of net benefit cost only
reflects the effects of the passage of time on the employee benefit obligation, while
the interest cost under Subtopic 835-20 reflects the borrowing cost of accumulated
expenditures incurred for the qualifying asset. The Board therefore decided not to
allow capitalization of the interest cost component of net benefit cost.

Different Accounting for Certain Types of Entities

BC26. Some respondents commented that the amendments in the proposed
Update should not be applied to entities that are subject to certain types of
regulation (rate-regulated entities) or to entities that have certain types of
government contracts for which reimbursement is a function of costs incurred. In
both of those circumstances, it was noted that those proposed amendments might
have a potential effect on the revenues of the entities or result in a mismatch of
operating revenue and amounts included in operating expense if the entities would
continue to report the amount of net benefit cost directly recovered from their
customers in revenue but present a portion of the related expense below operating
income. The Board understands the practical concerns of those respondents but

48

Page 54 of 58



affirmed its previous conclusion that the cost of a pension or other postretirement
benefit is not changed by the circumstances described. The Board understands
that such entities might be subject to other regulations and rules. However, in the
Board's view, those specific regulations and rules, which serve different purposes
and reflect different aspects of economics to the targeted users, as compared with
GAAP, should not always warrant a special provision in GAAP. Furthermore, the
Board considered the potential alternatives to define the exempticn scope (such
as by contract type or by entity type) and noted that the alternatives either would
not necessarily reduce the implementation cost as compared with the amendments
in this Update or would reduce the comparability among entities. The Board
concluded that the amendments should include no special provisions relating to
such entities. For rate-regulated entities, Topic 980, Regulated Operations, may
require that the difference in the timing of recognition of net benefit cost as an
expense under the amendments and under rate-making regulations and rules be
recognized as an asset or a liability created by the actions of the regulator.

BC27. Some respondents stated that the amendments in the proposed Update
should not be applied to nonpublic entities because those entities are not required
to disclose the components of net benefit cost. The Board acknowledged that
users of nonpublic entity financial statements might not require the same level of
detail about benefit costs and net income as is provided in the disclosure note by
public entities. The Board also looked at the decision criteria in paragraph 3.2 of
the Private Company Decision-Making Framework: A Guide for Evaluating
Financial Accounting and Reporting for Private Companies for consideration of
either an exemption or an alternative. Those decision criteria include whether
private companies already are permitted an exception from providing related or
similar types of information, whether there is a basis to support alternative
recognition and measurement or alternative disclosure requirements of the related
financial statement components, and whether the information affects amounts and
metrics on which typical users of private company financial statements focus. In
the Board's view, exemption from disclosing the components of net benefit cost
does not automatically warrant an exemption from the changes in presentation of
net benefit cost. The cost of a pension or other postretirement benefit is not
changed by whether an entity is public. The Board further noted that the
amendments in this Update will affect amounts and metrics on which users of
nonpublic entities focus. The Board decided not to allow exemption for nonpublic
entities.

Convergence with IFRS

BC28. Under IFRS, defined benefit costs are separated into three categories:
service cost, net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset), and
remeasurement. Service cost and net interest are recognized in an employer's
income statement, and remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability (asset)
are recognized in other comprehensive income (without recycling). However, IAS
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19, Employee Benefits, does not specify how an entity should present service cost
and net interest but requires that the entity present those components in
accordance with I1AS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements.

BC29. The amendments in this Update more closely align with IFRS by requiring
disaggregation of the service cost component from the other components of net
benefit cost.

BC30. Although limiting the capitalization of net benefit cost to the service cost
component results in differences between GAAP and IFRS, the amendments in
this Update increase the relevance of the resulting expenses as measures of the
current period’s operating activities and improve consistency and comparability of
financial information.

Effective Date and Transition

BC31. The Board decided that the amendments in this Update should be effective
for public business entities for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017,
including interim periods within those annual periods. For other entities, the
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018,
and interim periods within annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019. The
Board decided that those effective dates will allow adequate time for entities fo
apply the amendments. The Board noted that the effective date for public business
entities also aligns with the effective date of Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts
with Customers, to address some respondents' concerns about the burden that
certain entities (such as entities that have certain types of government contracts)
might have as a result of the amendment on the capitalization of the service cost
component of net benefit cost in assets.

BC32. The Board decided to permit early adoption as of the beginning of an
annual pericd for which financial statements (interim or annual) have not been
issued or made available for issuance. That is, early adoption should be within the
first interim period if an employer issues interim financial statements. An employer
that elects early adoption must adopt all of the amendments in this Update in the
same period. Disclosures of the nature of and reason for the change in accounting
principle are required in the first interim and annual periods of adoption. The Board
expects that requiring early adoption within the first interim period meets user
needs in a timelier manner. In addition, the Board does not expect an entity’s
decision process on early adoption to be complex or to require significant time and
effort.

BC33. The Board decided to require retrospective application of the amendments
in this Update for the presentation of the service cost component and the other
components of net benefit cost in the income statement to improve comparability
of financial information across current and comparative periods. The Board does
not anticipate that an entity will incur significant costs in applying the amendments
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retrospectively and decided that the benefits of retrospective application justify the
costs.

BC34. The Board decided to require prospective application of the amendments
in this Update for the capitalization of the service cost component of net benefit
cost in assets because retrospective application would be costly and complicated.
In the Board's view, the benefits of providing a comparable benefit cost element in
assets do not justify the costs.

BC35. The Board decided not to require an entity that adopts the amendments in_
this Update to disclose certain information required by Topic 250, Accounting
Changes and Error Corrections. Specifically, the Board decided that the transition
disclosures about (a) the method of applying the change and (b) a description of
the indirect effects of a change in accounting principle are not applicable.

BC36. Some respondents expressed concerns that retrospective presentation of
the service cost component and the other components of net benefit cost for the
prior comparative periods might be challenging for entities that have capitalized a
portion of net benefit cost in prior periods or for entities unable to track and identify
individual components of net benefit cost after allocating costs to operating units
and cost centers. The Board understands those concerns and decided to provide
a practical expedient to permit those entities to use the amounts disclosed in their
pension and other postretirement benefit plan notes as the estimation basis for the
disaggregated presentation for the prior comparative periods to provide a certain
level of comparability to financial statement users and to avoid complexities in
practice. This practical expedient is based on the assumption that the capitalized
amount of net benefit cost in one specific period could be offset by the cost
capitalized in earlier periods but rolled over to that period's income statement
because of an even flow in the asset movement. The Board notes that there might
be various ways in which the practical expedient can be applied. However, the
Board does not prescribe how the practical expedient should be applied. The
Board expects an entity to use judgement, based on its relevant facts and
circumstances, in determining if the practical expedient reasonably reflects the
effect of the capitalized amount of net benefit cost for the prior comparative
periods. If an entity elects to use the practical expedient, it should disclose that the
practical expedient was used.
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Amendments to the XBRL Taxonomy

The amendments to the FASB Accounting Standards Codification® in this
Accounting Standards Update require changes to the U.S. GAAP Financial
Reporting Taxonomy (Taxonomy). Those changes, which will be incorporated into
the proposed 2018 Taxonomy, are available for public comment through ASU

Taxonomy Changes provided at www.fasb.org, and finalized as part of the annual
release process.
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Building Owners and Managers Association - Interrogatory # 2

Reference:
Application, p3

Interrogatory:
Please provide a forecast breakdown of the $11 million OM&A 2018 expense for OPEB.

Response.
This forecast is based on the projected 2018 expenses provided by Hydro One’s actuaries as at

December 31, 2015.
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Building Owners and Managers Association - Interrogatory # 3

Reference:
Application, p3

Interrogatory:
Please provide an estimate of the reduction in revenue requirement for 2018 that will result from
the removal of the $11 million from 2018 rate base.

Response.
The $11 million does not represent a reduction to rate base; that is the reduction to capitalized

costs in 2018. Costs are capitalized to assets under construction and once the assets are put in-
service, the cost of the asset is added to rate base, and this is the point at which there is an impact
revenue requirement via return on rate base, depreciation etc. The exact impact on revenue
requirement will require a detailed assessment of how costs are accumulated at a project level
and then assess the time at which each project’s resulting asset goes in service. Assuming that
50% of a given period’s capitalized cost is put in service, the impact on revenue requirement
would be less than $1 million. The materiality threshold for Hydro One’s transmission business
is $3 million. Also, it should be noted that any impact on revenue requirement due to the
decrease in in-service additions resulting from the reduction to capitalized costs will be captured
in Hydro One’s in-service variance account.
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Building Owners and Managers Association - Interrogatory # 4

Reference:
Application, p3

Interrogatory:
Please explain the definition of service cost and its amount that continues to be capitalized.

Response.
The service cost represents the accrued cost of benefits that is attributable to the service provided

by employees in a given period and continues to be capitalized.
USGAAP standards define “service cost” for Pension and Other Postretirement plans as follows:

For Defined Benefit Pension Plans, the service cost is defined in Accounting Standards
Codification (ASC) 715-30-20 as:

A component of net periodic pension cost recognized in a period determined as the
actuarial present value of benefits attributed by the pension benefit formula to services
rendered by employees during that period. The service cost component is a portion of the
projected benefit obligation and is unaffected by the funded status of the plan.

For Defined Benefit Other Postretirement Plans, the service cost is defined in ASC 715-60-20 as:

The actuarial present value of benefits attributed to services rendered by employees
during the period (the portion of the expected postretirement benefit obligation attributed
to service in the period). The service cost component is the same for an unfunded plan, a
plan with minimal funding, and a well-funded plan.
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